IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 93,343

DOMINICK OCCHICONE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

HARRY P. BRODY Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0977860

JOHN P. ABATECOLA Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 0112887

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE 3801 Corporex Park, Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 (813) 740-3544

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Occhicone's motion for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in Court Below

The Circuit Court of the Sixth Judicial Circuit, Pasco County, Florida, entered the Judgments and Sentence at issue on November 18, 1987 (R. 1646-9). On July 15, 1986 a Grand Jury indicted Mr. Occhicone on two counts of first degree murder (R. 1373). Mr. Occhicone pled not guilty (R. 1374).

Mr. Occhicone's trial was held from September 14, 1986 to September 18, 1986. The jury found Mr. Occhicone guilty on both counts of first-degree murder (R. 864-5). A penalty phase proceeding was held on September 21, 1986, after which the jury recommended death on both counts by a vote of 7 to 5 (R. 1364-5). The Court thereafter sentenced Mr. Occhicone to life on Count I and to death on Count II (R. 1585, 1688-9).

On direct appeal, Mr. Occhicone's conviction was affirmed. <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990). Mr. Occhicone then filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari in the United States Supreme Court, which was denied on May 20, 1991. <u>Occhicone v.</u> <u>Florida</u>, 111 S. Ct. 2067 (1991).

On July 7, 1992, Mr. Occhicone filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the Florida Supreme Court, which was denied on April 8, 1993. <u>Occhicone v. Singletary</u>, 618 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1993). On May 20, 1993, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850, Mr. Occhicone filed his Motion to Vacate Judgements of Conviction and Sentence (PC-R. Vol. I, 6-169). On July 17, 1995, the lower court issued an order denying the motion for postconviction

relief in part (PC-R. Vol. I, 171-99). The Court summarily denied claims IV-VII, partially denied claim II and ordered the State to respond to claims I-III (PC-R. Vol. I, 171-99).

On February 2, 1996, in it's response, the State conceded that an evidentiary hearing was necessary regarding a portion of claims II and III (PC-R. Vol. II, 201-20).

Thereafter, the lower court issued an order summarily denying claim I and a portion of claim III (PC-R. Vol. II, 231). The court also summarily denied another subsection of claim II, despite the fact that the State had conceded an evidentiary hearing was necessary on that portion of Mr. Occhicone's claim (PC-R. Vol. II, 227). The court granted an evidentiary hearing on the remaining issues (PC-R. Vol. II, 232-3). Those issues included specific allegations regarding ineffective assistance of counsel at both the guilt and penalty phases of Mr. Occhicone's capital trial (PC-R. Vol. II, 226-33).

On August 28, 1997, Mr. Occhicone filed a motion to reconsider the scope of issues for presentation at the evidentiary hearing (PC-R. Vol. III, 395-424). On September 17, 1997, the lower court denied the motion (PC-R. Vol. III, 446).

At the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, the lower court ordered written closing arguments prior to rendering a ruling (PC-R., Vol. IV, 566). On May 18, 1998, the court denied the remaining portions of Mr. Occhicone's motion for postconviction relief (PC-R. Vol. IV, 594-605), although it failed to address in its order the "ineffective assistance of

counsel at penalty phase" claim. Timely notice of appeal was filed on June 11, 1998 (PC-R. Vol IV, 606). This appeal is properly before this Court.

II. Statement of Facts

a. Facts introduced at Trial and Sentencing

Mr. Occhicone was sentenced to death by a 7-5 jury vote on each count of murder (R. 1364-5). The lower court subsequently sentenced Mr. Occhicone to life on Count I and to death on Count II (R. 1585, 1688-9). On direct appeal, Justice Kogan dissented from the penalty decision on the ground that death for Mr. Occhicone was disproportionate. <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990).

At trial, Mr. Occhicone did not contest the evidence that he committed the homicides, but contended that they were not premeditated (R. 225-6, 742, 831). The defense failed to present any witnesses at the guilt phase of Mr. Occhicone's trial.

At the penalty phase, the defense presented the testimony of one lay witness, two correctional officers, the defendant and three mental health experts. Two of the experts, Dr. Fireman and Dr. Delbeato, rendered an opinion that Mr. Occhicone did not have the capacity to form a premeditated intent (R. 1042, 1043, 1102, 1104, 1008). This testimony was not utilized at the guilt phase of Mr. Occhicone's trial.

b. Facts introduced at Evidentiary Hearing

To prove that his trial counsel had been ineffective at his capital trial, Mr. Occhicone presented the testimony of his trial attorneys, Bruce Boyer, Bruce Young and Craig LaPorte; two experts, Dr. Fireman and Dr. Mussendun; and several lay witnesses.

Mr. Boyer, Mr. Occhicone's lead trial attorney, (PC-R. Vol. V, 789), testified that he had never previously tried a death penalty case as a defense attorney, although he had done so as a prosecutor (PC-R. Vol. V, 768-9). Likewise, co-counsel, Mr. Young, had never tried a capital case as a defense attorney (PC-R. Vol. V 826). Additionally, Mr. LaPorte had been an attorney for approximately three years before becoming involved in this case (PC-R. Vol. V, 873). Mr. LaPorte did not sit at the counsel table during the trial, but he was part of the strategic discussions (PC-R. Vol. V, 874).

With respect to Mr. Occhicone's allegations that trial counsel was ineffective at the guilt phase of his trial, Mr. Boyer conceded that the primary theory of defense was to avoid the death penalty "by convincing the jury that the alcohol that the client had consumed had been such that it would be appropriate to give him life in prison as opposed to death" (PC-R. Vol. V, 772-3). Mr. Boyer acknowledged that the defense was gearing its theory at guilt phase completely towards proving its case in penalty phase (PC-R. Vol. V, 773), and that the goal of the whole trial was to get life in prison (PC-R. Vol. V, 785).

With regard to the defense theory of using the guilt phase to set up the penalty phase, Mr. Boyer stated that:

The way we understood the case law at the time to get the alcohol consumption,

diminished capacity before the jury through the experts it required more than simply the client's self-serving statements of the consumption. And what we needed at the guilt phase was testimony from witnesses that would establish the consumption and its effects on the client so that the expert psychiatrist and psychologist would then be allowed to testify somewhere in -- the place we wanted them to testify was on the penalty phase.

(PC-R. Vol V, 773-4).

Mr. Boyer testified that prior to the beginning of the trial, defense counsel intended to present witnesses at the guilt phase "only if we had to do that to establish the alcohol consumption sufficient to get the experts on at the penalty phase." (PC-R. Vol V, 777).

Mr. Boyer also emphasized that he did not have any concerns about not presenting witnesses at the guilt phase:

> We could not find anything that we could do that we had not accomplished already with the State's witnesses. The only thing that we could do on the guilt phase would be make our case worse. There was nothing left that could help us that we were aware of.

> Plus, what we were really concerned about was establishing the predicate on alcohol to get the doctors on penalty phase and we felt we had done that. The only other thing we considered was putting the doctors on on the guilt phase and we didn't see that the jury would ever buy doctors twice. We couldn't do them twice. And they weren't going to help us on the guilt phase, they were all going to come back with he had the intent. Plus, they'd get into all the details of we he told them; we just weren't interested in that.

(PC-R. Vol V, 792).

Despite Mr. Boyer's theory regarding the defense strategy, Mr. Young and Mr. LaPorte maintained that the theory of defense at the guilt phase included presenting a defense of voluntary intoxication and anything else that would somehow mitigate or negate first-degree murder (PC-R. Vol. V, 828, 875). Mr. LaPorte added that the "first goal was to try to get a second-degree murder conviction, and after that had failed obviously the secondary goal was to get a life sentence." (PC-R. Vol. V, 909).

While both Mr. Boyer and Mr. Young could not recall whether trial counsel was able to elicit any information about Mr. Occhicone's level of intoxication on the day of the offense (PC-R. Vol V, 808, 865), Mr. Laporte acknowledged that they did not present any testimony regarding Mr. Occhicone's level of intoxication on the day of the offense (PC-R. Vol. V, 880). Rather, Mr. LaPorte felt that they were able to obtain, through testimony on cross-examination, a suggestion of intoxication, by way of habit, in that Mr. Occhicone was a heavy drinker, and also by way of the testimony of Anita Gerrety that Mr. Occhicone seemed to stagger just prior to the murder (PC-R. Vol. V, 880-1). Despite this statement, Mr. LaPorte later rationalized that the presentation of witnesses toward a voluntary intoxication defense would be cumulative to the State's case (PC-R. Vol. V, 904), and he felt that the defense had already developed the voluntary intoxication defense on cross-examination of the State's witnesses (PC-R. Vol. V, 902).

In order to prove trial counsel's ineffectiveness and

failure to properly present an intoxication defense, several witnesses were called at the evidentiary hearing. These witnesses established that Mr. Occhicone was severely intoxicated for at least thirty-six (36) continuous hours before commission of the crime.

On the afternoon of June 8, 1986, the day before the crime, Mr. Occhicone was involved in a car accident wherein he crashed his car into a palm tree in front of Patricia Goddard's house (PC-R. Vol. VI, 998). After speaking to Mr. Occhicone, Ms. Goddard testified that she determined Mr. Occhicone was under the influence of alcohol (PC-R. Vol. VI, 999-1000). Ms. Goddard believed that Mr. Occhicone "had a lot to drink" because he smelled of alcohol, his speech was slurred, and he had trouble standing (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1000).

In addition, Mr. Occhicone was upset and emotional, not because he had been involved in a car accident, but instead because of his relationship with a woman named Anita (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1005).

Kimberly Connell, Ms. Goddard's sister, was also at the house when the accident occurred on June 8 (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1011). After speaking to Mr. Occhicone, Ms. Connell also concluded that Mr. Occhicone was intoxicated (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1014).

Following the accident, Ms. Connell accompanied Mr. Occhicone to a bar where Mr. Occhicone consumed a large quantity of alcohol (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1014). Ms. Connell testified that while at the bar Mr. Occhicone "was a mess," and at times that

she could not understand what he was saying because his speech was slurred, and he was crying (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1015).

Ms. Connell and Mr. Occhicone eventually left the bar and went to his house (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1015). There, she and Mr. Occhicone consumed more alcohol and smoked marijuana (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1015). Again, Ms. Connell testified that at this point, Mr. Occhicone was very drunk, and that he was crying and upset (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1015).

Ms. Connell eventually fell asleep at about 3:00 or 4:00 in the morning of June 9 (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1015). Ms. Connell testified that Mr. Occhicone was still awake when she went to sleep, and when Ms. Connell awoke the next morning, Mr. Occhicone was already awake (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1015).

Ms. Connell testified that she and Mr. Occhicone were back in the bar by 7:00 a.m. on June 9, where she and Mr. Occhicone continued to drink (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1015).

Lilly Lawson, a State witness from the trial, corroborated Ms. Connell's testimony about Mr. Occhicone on the morning of June 9, 1986 (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1037-8). Although Ms. Lawson testified at trial, she was never asked about having contact with Mr. Occhicone on the day and evening prior to the murders (R. 444-63). Ms. Lawson testified at the evidentiary hearing that Mr. Occhicone was at the bar throughout the morning of June 9, beginning at 7:00 a.m., at which time he consumed approximately ten shots of root beer schnapps and also had a vodka and cranberry (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1037-8).

After separating from Mr. Occhicone at some point in the afternoon, Ms. Connell testified that she briefly saw Mr. Occhicone at her apartment at approximately 5:30 p.m. (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1015-16). Ms. Connell stated that Mr. Occhicone was again intoxicated (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1016).

While Ms. Connell's contact with Mr. Occhicone lapsed periodically throughout the day, Shooters bartenders and patrons provided testimony about Mr. Occhicone during those periods when he wasn't with Ms. Connell. Cheryl Hoffman, a bartender at Shooters, worked the afternoon shift on June 9 (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1054-5). Although she testified at trial, Ms. Hoffman was never asked about seeing Mr. Occhicone on June 9 (R. 463-77). Had she been asked, Ms. Hoffman would have testified that she served Mr. Occhicone alcoholic beverages during her shift, and that she could tell he had been drinking prior to her shift (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1055-7).

Ms. Lawson testified that she saw Mr. Occhicone again at Shooters at approximately 7:30 p.m., at which time Mr. Occhicone was still consuming alcohol (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1038). She believed that Mr. Occhicone was intoxicated because she had known Mr. Occhicone for several years and "could tell by his appearance and everything that he was not quite in control of his facilities (*sic*)." (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1039). At some point prior to 11:00 p.m. on June 9, Ms. Lawson recalled seeing Mr. Occhicone leave the bar, and that he took a bottle of vodka with him (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1039-40).

Michael Stillwagon corroborated Ms. Lawson's testimony because he saw Mr. Occhicone at Shooters at approximately 6:30 p.m. on June 9 (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1072). Mr. Stillwagon agreed with Ms. Lawson that Mr. Occhicone appeared to be intoxicated (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1073). Also, Mr. Stillwagon testified that he left the bar with Mr. Occhicone in Mr. Occhicone's Corvette later in the evening (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1073).

In the early morning hours of June 10, 1986, shortly before the crime, Mr. Occhicone returned to Ms. Connell's apartment (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1016). At that time, Mr. Occhicone was still intoxicated, as well as very upset and emotional over his breakup with Ms. Gerrety (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1016). Mr. Occhicone left after about fifteen (15) minutes (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1016).

The testimony of these witnesses directly contradicts trial counsel's statements that they had presented everything they possibly could concerning Mr. Occhicone's alcohol consumption (PC-R. Vol. V, 849), and that any additional testimony would be cumulative (PC-R. Vol. V, 904).

Also, at the evidentiary hearing, postconviction counsel confronted trial counsel with their failure to present expert testimony that would have substantiated Mr. Occhicone's voluntary intoxication defense.

Despite the fact that Mr. Boyer had previously conceded his intent to use the experts solely at the penalty phase, Mr. Young and Mr. LaPorte testified that some of their concerns about presenting mental health experts at guilt phase arose from the

fact that Mr. Occhicone's vivid recall on the night of the murders would be exposed through the taped statements of Dr. Mussenden, that Mr. Occhicone used swear words in the tapes, and also that Mr. Occhicone made contradictory statements to the experts (PC-R. Vol. V, 858, 877, 903, 919, 924). Also, Mr. Young was aware that Dr. Mussenden would have opined that Mr. Occhicone was not suffering from any form of alcohol intoxication at the time of the murders (PC-R. Vol. V, 858).

Dr. Gerald Mussenden, a clinical psychologist, was appointed to determine Mr. Occhicone's competency at the time of the offense (PC-R. Vol. VII, 1134). At trial, Dr. Mussenden was used as a State witness during the penalty phase, and was of the opinion that Mr. Occhicone had the cognitive ability to premeditate (PC-R. Vol. VII, 1162). However, at the evidentiary hearing, Dr. Mussenden testified that he had changed his opinion about Mr. Occhicone's ability to premeditate based on several affidavits provided to him by postconviction counsel (PC-R. Vol VII, 1145, 1162, 1149, 1195-6, 1197, 1198).

Dr. Mussenden also testified that with the exception of the initial evaluation and the deposition, he had no contact with the defense attorneys in this case (PC-R. Vol. VII, 1135).

Another expert, Dr. Fireman, a psychiatrist, testified that he had been a defense witness at the time of trial (PC-R. Vol. VII, 1220). Dr. Fireman testified that the trial attorneys never consulted him about assisting them in preparing the guilt phase of Mr. Occhicone's trial (PC-R. Vol. VII, 1222). They never

communicated to him that they were attempting to put on a voluntary intoxication defense during the guilt phase, (PC-R. Vol. VII, 1225), and they did not ask for his assistance in that regard (PC-R. Vol. VII, 1225).

Dr. Fireman testified that had he been utilized at guilt phase, he could have aided the defense in impeaching the State's expert, (PC-R. Vol. VII, 1231, 1233); Dr. Fireman's testimony adequately rebutted any testimony with regard to Mr. Occhicone's vivid recall of the events surrounding the murder (PC-R. Vol. VII, 1228). He also explained how it was possible that Mr. Occhicone could perform certain cognitive acts such as driving a car and at the same time be unable to premeditate (PC-R. Vol. VII, 1228-30, 1234). Dr. Fireman concluded that Mr. Occhicone did not have the ability cognitively to premeditate on the night of the crime (PC-R. Vol. VII, 1246).

Over postconviction counsel's objection, (PC-R. Vol. VII, 1260), Michael Halkitis was called as a rebuttal witness for the State, (PC-R. Vol. VII, 1306). Mr. Halkitis was the lead prosecutor at the evidentiary hearing and also at the time of trial (PC-R. Vol. VII, 1307). Mr. Halkitis testified that after Dr. Mussenden was appointed as a mental health expert to determine competency, Mr. Halkitis sent Dr. Mussenden a letter outlining his version of the facts of the case, as well as some depositions (PC-R. Vol. VII, 1307-8).

Another of Mr. Occhicone's allegations regarding the ineffectiveness of his trial counsel dealt with their failure to

call Audrey Hall to testify at Mr. Occhicone's trial.¹ During their testimony at the evidentiary hearing, all of Mr. Occhicone's trial lawyers conceded that they were aware of Audrey Hall, who could have testified at trial that it was common practice for Mr. Occhicone to park his car on the corner of Sugarbush and Berry Hill, away from Ms. Gerrety's house, and where it was found after the murders (PC-R. Vol. V, 784, 840, 887). This testimony would have refuted the State's argument at trial that the location of Mr. Occhicone's car was evidence of premeditation (PC-R. Vol. V, 880, 887-8).

As to why they didn't call Ms. Hall, trial counsel's strategic reasoning was that this had already been brought out through cross-examination of Ms. Gerrety (PC-R. Vol. V, 784, 840, 880). Each trial attorney testified to this point (PC-R. Vol. V, 784, 840, 880).² However, Mr. Laporte recognized the importance of Ms. Hall's testimony (PC-R., Vol. V, 887). He stated at the evidentiary hearing that the defense wanted to make sure that the jury recognized that it was Mr. Occhicone's normal custom and practice to park the car there (PC-R. Vol. V. 887-8). But again,

¹Postconviction counsel informed the court that Ms. Hall was unavailable as a witness at the evidentiary hearing because of her incompetency from Alzheimer's disease (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1091-2). Postconviction counsel was permitted to present her testimony through Randy Edwards, a postconviction investigator who had previously obtained an affidavit from Ms. Hall (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1102-106). However, this testimony was considered only as penalty phase evidence (PC-R. Vol. VI, 1101).

²Despite trial counsel's belief, a review of the trial record fails to support their contention that this was brought out through the cross-examination of Anita Gerrety. (<u>See</u> Argument I.A.1)

Mr. Laporte's recollection was that the testimony of Ms. Gerrety on cross-examination confirmed that point (PC-R. Vol V., 880). In addition, Mr. Young believed that the State had a rebuttal witness who could counter Ms. Hall's testimony (PC-R. Vol. V, 860).

Mr. Occhicone also presented evidence of his counsel's ineffectiveness at the penalty phase of his trial. Mr. Boyer and Mr. Young agreed that the defense strategy was to present mitigating evidence regarding Mr. Occhicone's alcohol consumption through the use of expert testimony (PC-R. Vol. V, 790-91, 830), and also to present the fact that Mr. Occhicone had a son (PC-R. Vol. V, 790, 830).

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