#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DOMINICK OCCHICONE,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 93,343

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0503843 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

In addition, the requirement that withheld materials must have been both exculpatory and material in order to establish a due process violation under Brady has clearly not been met. The most glaring impediment to Occhicone's plea for relief on this basis is the fact that there was no information available from these witnesses which was not already known to the defense. Occhicone's 3.850 motion identified five potential defense witnesses -- Lily Lawson, David Hoffman, Debra Newell, Barbara Talbert, and Kimberly Connell Schuh. Two of these five actually testified at trial -Lily Lawson (DA-R. 444-63) and Debra Newell (DA-R. 489-507). The remaining three witnesses, according to their affidavits, would have testified that Occhicone was distraught and upset about the difficulties in his relationship with Anita, and that Occhicone was drinking heavily in the time leading up to June 10, 1986. However, this evidence was already before the jury, and was forcefully argued by defense counsel in closing (DA-R. 745, 751-753, 759-762). In addition, the defense had another witness, Joanna Carrico, that was identified at trial as a barmaid with similar information about

Occhicone's emotional state and drinking habits; this witness was not used by the defense (DA-R. 636, 654). Thus, it is readily apparent that, even if the State had formally disclosed the names of people Occhicone had been with prior to the crime, they would not have been used at trial.

Evidence is only "material" for Brady purposes "if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different." United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682 (1985); Haliburton v. <u>State</u>, 691 So. 2d 466, 470 (Fla. 1997). This "reasonable probability" must be sufficient to undermine confidence in the Id. The mere possibility that information "might have" outcome. helped the defense or affected the outcome of the case does not establish materiality, and the proper test is whether the suppressed information creates a reasonable doubt of guilt that does not otherwise exist. United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97 (1976). Therefore, even if Occhicone were able to establish that these witnesses should have been disclosed and were not, any such failure to disclose could not possibly meet the standard for materiality required for relief.

As part of this claim, Occhicone suggests that Anita Gerrety's statement that Occhicone had difficulty walking and was staggering around the house at the time of the shooting, as reflected in notes from the State Attorney's Office, should have been disclosed to the

defense. Any <u>Brady</u> implications concerning this statement are clearly refuted by the record, however, since Anita admitted on cross examination that she had seen Occhicone stagger, and she was questioned extensively about whether or not Occhicone was staggering and whether she had previously indicated such (DA-R. 314, 317). In closing, defense counsel had reminded the jury of Anita's deposition, where she had stated that Occhicone was staggering, mumbling, and unable to walk straight at the time of the offense (DA-R. 753).

Similarly, the claim that the State's "deal" with witness Phil Baker was not disclosed cannot warrant relief under Brady. In fact, the "deal" as described in the 3.850 motion is not in any way inconsistent with Baker's testimony at trial. Baker was extensively cross examined on this point during trial, indicating that, although he hoped for a better sentence on his grand theft charge as a result of his willingness to testify, he had no specific understanding for such with the State (DA-R. 572). Of course, Baker had received his sentence of probation prior to Occhicone's trial (DA-R. 571). Baker also stated that he understood that he would be getting a favorable recommendation from the State regarding his violation of parole, which was still pending at the time of trial, in exchange for his testimony (DA-R. 572).

Since the record reflects that the details of Baker's sentence

were explored by defense counsel and argued as a basis for disregarding Baker's testimony to Occhicone's jury, the facts pled in Occhicone's 3.850 motion did not suggest that any due process violation took place with regard to Baker's testimony.

When reviewed in light of the trial record, Occhicone's motion fails to identify any exculpatory evidence which was not known to the defense or which would have affected the outcome of his trial. Therefore, his <u>Brady</u> claim was properly summarily denied.

## B. Pretrial competency

Occhicone next challenges the trial court's summary denial of his claim of incompetence at the time of trial. In this subissue, Occhicone alleges that his counsel "failed to adequately investigate his mental health, failed to provide the expert with relevant and necessary background data, failed to properly present this information to the court, and failed to request an evidentiary hearing on competency" (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 82). There are no specific facts offered to support these conclusory allegations.

This claim which did not contain sufficient specific facts to warrant an evidentiary hearing. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850(c)(6) expressly requires the recitation of the facts relied upon in support of a postconviction motion. The failure to allege any such facts herein clearly mandated summary denial of this claim. See,

<u>Jackson v. Dugger</u>, 633 So. 2d 1051, 1054 (Fla. 1993) ("Conclusory allegations are not sufficient to require an evidentiary hearing"); <u>Kennedy v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 912, 913 (Fla. 1989).

Furthermore, the conclusory facts offered in support of this claim were clearly refuted by the record. Specifically, Occhicone asserts that no adequate psychological evaluation on the issue of competency was conducted; that he was incompetent to stand trial; that defense counsel allegedly "noticed something was seriously wrong with Mr. Occhicone's comprehension of his situation" and that counsel unreasonably failed to seek a competency hearing (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 82). However, the record reflects that two mental health experts were appointed to examine Occhicone as to the issue of sanity, and another was appointed to assist the attorneys in their preparation of Occhicone's defense (DA-R. 1440-1445). All three experts ultimately testified at the penalty phase of the trial, and all indicated that competency evaluations were included as part of their examinations (DA-R. 958, 962, 973, 1173, 1179, 1264, 1267, 1294-1295). In fact, Dr. DelBeato testified that there was "no question" in his mind that Occhicone was competent to stand trial (DA-R. 974). Given Occhicone's failure to even allege that he could present expert testimony indicating that he was not competent at the time of trial, his claim of incompetence was clearly insufficient and properly summarily denied. See, Engle v. Dugger, 576 So. 2d 696, 700, 702 (Fla. 1991) (claim legally

insufficient where nothing showed evidence that could have been discovered).

In addition, in light of the testimony as to Occhicone's competence in the record, this claim is procedurally barred. In Johnston v. Duqqer, 583 So. 2d 657, 660 (Fla. 1991), this Court reviewed the denial of a 3.850 motion and expressly recognized "Johnston's claim that he was not competent to stand trial in 1984 is procedurally barred because he did not challenge the competency finding on direct appeal." Similarly, Occhicone did not challenge any aspect of the testimony deeming him to be competent in his direct appeal. Occhicone's reliance on <u>Hill v. State</u>, 473 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 1985), to suggest otherwise is not persuasive, since the factual circumstances in that case "were not presented in the initial court proceedings." 473 So. 2d at 1254. Thus, this claim warranted summary rejection in the instant case.

# C. Vague jury instructions

Occhicone also challenges the summary denial of his claim that his penalty phase jury recommendation was tainted by vague and confusing jury instructions. The trial court's finding of a procedural bar against such a claim in postconviction proceedings is well supported by case law from this Court. It has long been the law that claims which could have or should have been raised on direct appeal are not cognizable in a Rule 3.850 motion to vacate.

Torres-Arboleda v. Dugger, 636 So. 2d 1321, 1323 (Fla. 1994); <u>Meeks v. State</u>, 382 So. 2d 673 (Fla. 1980). The purpose of Rule 3.850 is to provide a means of addressing alleged constitutional errors in a judgment or sentence, not to review errors which are cognizable on direct appeal. <u>McCrae v. State</u>, 437 So. 2d 1388 (Fla. 1983). Jury instruction issues are classic appellate issues, since they are obviously reflected in the transcript of the trial, and therefore must be challenged on direct appeal. <u>Gorham v.</u> <u>State</u>, 521 So. 2d 1067 (Fla. 1988). Therefore, the trial court correctly denied this claim as procedurally barred.

# D. Invalid prior conviction

Occhicone next summarily alleges that his prior violent felony conviction was obtained unconstitutionally, and therefore reliance on that conviction as an aggravating factor vitiated the validity of his death sentence. It must be noted initially that Occhicone must collaterally challenge his prior conviction *before* bringing the instant postconviction claim; there is no allegation that he has done so in this case. <u>Buenoano v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 941, 951-2 (Fla. 1998); <u>Eutzy v. State</u>, 541 So. 2d 1143, 1146 (Fla. 1989). Additionally, this aggravating factor could have been applied due to the contemporaneous murder conviction obtained in this case.

However, this claim was also properly denied as factually insufficient. Other than the conclusory allegation that

Occhicone's conviction for resisting arrest with violence "was obtained in violation of his rights under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth amendments," Occhicone has not offered any facts in support of this claim. The failure to allege any specific facts herein clearly mandated summary denial of this claim. <u>Jackson</u>, 633 So. 2d at 1054; <u>Kennedy</u>, 547 So. 2d at 913.

## E. Cumulative judicial error

Occhicone's assertion of cumulative judicial error fails to add a cognizable independent claim, since it relies on finding a number of constitutional violations; Occhicone merely alleges that numerous errors contaminated his trial. This claim is barred, since the effect of any cumulative error based on the issues raised in his direct appeal must have been considered at that time. To the extent Occhicone is asserting cumulative error based on the current postconviction issues, he is clearly not entitled to relief since none of the allegations which he has presented demonstrate any error that could have affected the fundamental fairness of his trial. See, <u>Mendyk</u>, 592 So. 2d at 1081.

## F. Ineffective assistance of counsel, guilt phase

Occhicone next addresses a number of grounds raised in his initial claim of ineffective assistance of guilt phase counsel which were denied summarily prior to the evidentiary hearing.

These include the failure to present evidence of cocaine use; the failure to supply experts with sufficient background material; the failure to question potential jurors about a possible taint; and the failure to object to testimony about the defendant's refusal to take an atomic absorption test. The trial court carefully delineated its reasons for denying a hearing on these allegations:

> such allegation is that Joanne One Carrico Parmenter ("Parmenter") who testified for the defense during the penalty phase, could have and would have given additional evidence of Defendant's intoxication during the guilt phase had she been asked to do so, specifically by testifying to Defendant's cocaine problem and that she had to drive him home several times. Defendant has provided a sworn affidavit by Parmenter verifying her Parmenter testified at proposed testimony. trial that she had known Defendant for about two years, from serving him while she was a bartender at the Liquor Lodqe and subsequently, while bartending at Shooters. fails allegation This to satisfy the performance prong of Strickland because the record indicates that Parmenter was specifically asked by defense counsel during the penalty phase whether the Defendant used any other substances that affected him besides alcohol, tranquilizers, and marijuana, but responded only that he used blood pressure pills (see R940-41 attached). Parmenter has not admitted or given any reason for this inconsistency and there is no indication that she would have answered differently had she been asked the same question during the guilt As for Parmenter's sworn statement phase. that several times she had to take the Defendant home because he was too drunk to drive, when asked on cross-examination during the penalty phase how many times she gave him a ride or called him a cab when she saw that he was intoxicated, she responded "none" (see R945-46 attached), and Parmenter has not

admitted or given any reason for this inconsistency. This allegation fails the prejudice prong of *Strickland*, as there is no indication that she would have answered differently had she been asked the same question by defense counsel during the guilt phase. Accordingly, these allegations regarding Parmenter are <u>denied</u>.

Defendant also contends that competent counsel would have presented a qualified expert to testify during the guilt phase about the effects of the alcohol and drugs and proffers Dr. Caddy, who allegedly opines that the defense experts at trial gave inadequate not being evaluations due to supplied sufficient background materials. No affidavit or report from Dr. Caddy was submitted with Defendant's postconviction motion. Dr. Caddy would allegedly testify that at the time of the murders, Defendant "was functioning in an altered mental state in which his capacity to premeditate, to plan a course of action, and to make judgments was significantly diminished because of his intoxicated state". An evidentiary hearing allowing Dr. Caddy to testify is not necessary because Defendant already had competent experts, such as Dr. Fireman, testify during the penalty phase that, among other things, Defendant had organic brain damage from years of heavy drinking (see R1061 attached), that he did not have the capacity to premeditate and was not of sound mind the night of the murders nor could he appreciate the consequences of his actions (see R1043 attached), that he was psychotic, irrational, and bereft of reason the night of the murders (see R1062, 1072 attached), and that although he had some appreciation of right from wrong, he could not appreciate the consequences of his actions (see R1072-74 attached). Also, Dr. Delbeato testified that he did not think that the murders were premeditated (see R1008 attached) and Dr. Szabo testified that the night of the murders, Defendant was under extreme emotional disturbance and his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct was substantially impaired (see R1178 attached). However,

because no defense expert testified during the guilt phase <u>an evidentiary hearing is</u> <u>warranted</u> only to determine whether counsel acted reasonably in not presenting any experts during the guilt phase, but the allegations with regard to the need for Dr. Caddy are refuted by the record and are therefore <u>denied</u>.

The State contends that two allegations should be denied: One allegation under claim 2 contending inaction by counsel regarding the alleged tainting of the jury by a spectator was already denied in this Court's prior order because refuted by the record, and thereby failing the performance prong of Strickland. Second, Defendant's ineffective assistance claim regarding counsel's failure to object to the testimony about Defendant's refusal to take the atomic absorption test as evidence that he was sober, is without merit. As the State points out, the admissibility of such testimony was challenged and rejected on appeal because, unlike Herring v. State, 501 So. 2d 19 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), the prosecutor's comments in closing arguments about Defendant's refusal were used to refute diminished capacity, Defendant's claim of rather than as convincing proof of his guilt. See, Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990). Therefore, even if counsel was deficient by failing to object to the testimony, such would be harmless, failing the prejudice prong of Strickland, as the Florida Supreme Court did not find the testimony inadmissible for the purpose for which it was used. See, e.g., Henderson v. Singletary, 617 So. 2d 313 (Fla. 1993).

(PC-R. V2/227-28, 226-27).

. . .

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